SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA SID J. WHITE

FILED

SEP 7

CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
BY Deputy Clerk

GENE BROWN, d/b/a LEISURE  
PROPERTIES, LTD. and LEISURE  
PROPERTIES, LTD., a Florida  
limited partnership,

Petitioner,

vs.

Supreme Court  
Case No. 74,531

APALACHEE REGIONAL  
PLANNING COUNCIL

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

GENE D. BROWN  
3836 Killearn Court  
Tallahassee, FL 32308  
(904)668-0440  
Fla. Bar I.D. 096262

Attorney for Petitioners

ISSUE ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE POWER TO SET AND COLLECT FEES FOR DEVELOPMENT OF REGIONAL IMPACT APPLICATION AND REVIEW COSTS, AS EXERCISED PURSUANT TO RULE 29L-2.02, WAS PROPERLY DELEGATED TO THE APALACHEE REGIONAL PLANNING COUNCIL BY THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On or about October 21, 1986, Respondent filed a Complaint in the Second Judicial Circuit Court in and for Leon County, Florida, demanding judgment against Petitioners in the amount of \$14,856.74 plus interest. The essential facts are alleged in the Complaint and are as follows:

In or about October, 1984, Petitioners submitted to Respondent an application for review of a substantial deviation from a development of regional impact order concerning a development owned by Petitioners at St. George Island, Franklin County, Florida. At that time Petitioners paid Respondent a fee deposit in the amount of \$4,000.00. Respondent, in accordance with the provisions of law, reviewed Petitioners' application. Thereafter, in accordance with Rule 29L-2.02, Respondent charged Petitioners with one hundred percent (1000) of the costs of reviewing Petitioners' application up to \$10,000.00, and eighty percent (80%) of said costs for that portion over \$10,000.00. The resulting amount due was \$14,856.74.

Petitioners filed an Amended Answer and Counter-claim seeking reimbursement of the \$4,000.00 fee deposit paid to Respondent. At final hearing, the parties stipulated that Petitioners' and Respondent's entitlement to the amounts claimed hinged upon, and the sole issue to be decided, was the constitutionality of the Statutory Authorities for the adoption of Rule 29L-2.02.

The trial court found in its Final Judgment of October 24, 1988, that said Statutes, with respect to any authority to

determine and assess fees, were unconstitutionally vague and uncertain, and thus, that Rule 29-L2.02 was an unlawful delegation of legislative authority. The trial court ordered Respondent to reimburse Petitioners' fee deposit of \$4,000.00.

An appeal was taken to the First District Court of Appeal, which rendered an opinion on July 13, 1989 reversing the judgment of the trial court. In its opinion, the First District Court of Appeal certified a question of great public interest to this Court. Thereafter, Petitioners filed a timely notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction of this Court.



SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Florida Constitution requires a separation of powers between and among the legislative, executive and judicial branches. The legislative branch cannot delegate its power to the executive branch unless such delegation is accompanied by legally sufficient standards, guidelines and limitations. In this case, the legislature attempted to delegate its taxing power to the executive branch under a statute authorizing the extraction of taxes "when appropriate," with no standards, guidelines or limitations whatsoever. Because this attempted delegation of legislative power to tax is unconstitutional as a violation of the separation of powers doctrine embodied in the Florida Constitution, the rules promulgated pursuant to such delegation are invalid and the decision of the First District Court of Appeal should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

Article 11, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution provides as follows:

Branches of government--The powers of the state government shall be divided into legislative, executive and judicial branches. No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the other branches unless expressly provided herein.

In a long and unwaivering line of cases, the courts of Florida have uniformly held that statutes granting power to administrative agencies must clearly set forth adequate standards to guide the agencies in the execution of the powers delegated. Askew v. Cross Key Waterways, 372, So.2d 913 (Fla. 1978); D'Alemberte v. Anderson, 349 So.2d 164 (Fla. 1977); Lewis v. Bank of Pasco County, 346 So.2d 53 (Fla. 1977); Sarasota County v. Barp, 302 So.2d 737 (Fla. 1974); Conner v. Joe Hatton, Inc., 216 So.2d 209 (Fla. 1968). As pointed out by this Court in Askew, supra, "[w]hen legislation is so lacking in guidelines that neither the agency nor the courts can determine whether the agency is carrying out the intent of the legislature in its conduct, then, in fact, the agency becomes the law giver rather than the administrator of the law." Id. at 918-19.

Although the courts of Florida have allowed some rather general statutory standards and guidelines to pass constitutional muster in non-tax cases, this has not been true when dealing with

the extraction of a tax. Article IX, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution provides that: "no tax shall be levied except in pursuance of law." As stated by this Court in Bradford v. Stoutamire 38 So.2d 684 (Fla. 1948) at 685:

It is a well known rule that fee statutes are to be strictly construed and none allowed except where clearly provided by law.

See also: State v. Fussell, 24 So.2d 804 (Fla. 1946 ); Security Finance Co. v. Gentry, 109 So. 220 (Fla. 1926).

In the case at bar, there are no guidelines or standards "clearly provided by law." Bradford, supra at 685. Indeed, the legislature failed to provide any standards, guidelines or limitations whatsoever. Instead, the entire statutory authority for the extraction of the tax in this case is set forth in section 186.505(12) (formerly Section 160) of the Florida Statutes which provides that all regional planning councils shall have the power "to fix and collect membership dues, rents, or fees when appropriate." (emphasis added).

The statute provides absolutely no standards, guidelines or limitations for use by the agency in determining what is or is not "appropriate." The agency is given no guidance whatsoever as to who should pay the fees, when the fees should be paid, how much the fees should be, whether there should be any limit on the fees, what the fees can or cannot be used for, how the fees should be paid or collected, whether the agency can charge all or

only part of its general overhead as a "cost" or fee to be reimbursed, as well as a multitude of other policy or legislative-type decisions that must be made when the government is extracting a mandatory tax from its citizens. Indeed, there are no limitations at all in the statute and the agency can charge and collect any type of "fee" it deems "appropriate" in its unbridled discretion. See Dickinson v. State, 227 So.2d 36 (Fla. 1969).

Luckily for Petitioners, the Respondent had more than one DRI to review during the time that Petitioners' DRI review was underway. Otherwise, Respondent could have been charged with all of Petitioners' overhead expenses, including "fringe benefits," instead of just some unknown portion of the overhead as shown by the statement attached to Petitioners' complaint. The simple point is that there is no statutory limit on the tax. If the statute is constitutional, the tax or "fee" could have legally been \$500,000 or more without violating the rule that requires extraction of a fee equal to 80% to 100% of Petitioners' direct and indirect costs, including fringe benefits and attorneys' fees. The courts of Florida have held as unconstitutional many statutes which provided more standards and more guidelines than Section 186.505(12), which has no standards or guidelines other than the "when appropriate" reference. For example, in Conner v. Joe Hatton, Inc., 203 So.2d 154 (Fla.

1967), this Court was called upon to decide the constitutionality of Section 573.21 of the Florida Statutes which provided that the Commissioner of Agriculture should collect certain fees:

■ ■ . 'for the purpose of providing funds to defray the necessary expenses incurred by the Commissioner in the formulation, issuance, administration and enforcement of any marketing order,' to levy and assess upon every person engaged in the production, distribution or handling of ■ ■ ■ sweet corn within his state, and directly affected by any marketing order issued pursuant to this law, ■ ■ ■ such person's pro rata share of the necessary expenses incident thereto.

The 'rate of assessment' is required to be 'per container or some other equitable basis.'

This statute at least provided:

(1) the purpose of the fee or what it would be used for, i.e., it would be used to defray necessary expenses for marketing orders;

(2) who would pay the fee, i.e., it would be charged to every person engaged in the production, distribution or handling of sweet corn in the state who was also directly affected by any marketing order issued pursuant to other detailed provisions of the Act;

(3) how the fee would be allocated vis-a-vis the agency's costs, i.e., it had to be the pro rata share of the necessary expenses; and

(4) the rate of assessment of the fee, i.e., it had to be on a per container or some other equitable basis.

Notwithstanding these specific guidelines and standards, this Court held Section 573.21 to be unconstitutional as an excessive and unlawful delegation of legislative power because the standards and guidelines were not sufficient. This Court pointed out the Department of Agriculture still had the power to determine: (1) the amount of money to be raised by the tax; (2) the amount of the tax to be levied; and (3) the basis upon which the tax burden would be distributed among those required to pay. Id. at 155. In the instant case, Respondent has all those powers and many more--all without the restraints and limitations set forth in the statute under review in Conner. If that statute was unconstitutional as an illegal delegation of legislative power, how can Respondent seriously contend that Section 186.505(12) is valid and enforceable as the basis for extracting a tax from Petitioners?

This Court, in affirming two opinions from the First District Court of Appeal, has already held part of Chapter 380 unconstitutional for the very same reason set forth by Judge Gary in the trial court below, i.e., that the statute was not enacted with "minimal standards and guidelines ascertainable by reference to the enactment establishing the program." Askew v. Cross Key Waterways, 372 So.2d 913, 925 (Fla. 1978). And once again, as in Conner, the statute held unconstitutional by this Court was far more specific in terms of standards and guidelines than the statute under review in the instant case. In Askew, this Court was called upon to decide whether Section 380.05(2), which specified the criteria for establishing areas of critical state concern, was constitutionally defective for failure to include sufficient guidelines and standards. Section 380.05(2) provided as follows:

(2) An area of critical state concern may be designated only for:

(a) An area containing, or having a significant impact upon, environmental, historical, natural, or archaeological resources of regional or statewide importance.

(b) An area significantly affected by or having a significant effect upon, an existing or proposed major public facility or other area of major public investment.

(c) A proposed area of major development potential, which may include a proposed site of a new community, designated in a state land development plan.

In addition to these specific guidelines, the statute under review in Askew contained many specific procedural protections to insure that all concerned parties would have sufficient notice and opportunity to be heard before any decision could be made.

Notwithstanding the specific standards, guidelines and procedural protections contained in the statutory framework under review in Askew, this Court nevertheless unanimously affirmed two decisions of the First District Court of Appeal holding that the statute was unconstitutionally vague and indefinite. Imagine how easy that decision would have been if the statute had simply given the Administration Commission the power to declare areas of critical state concern "where appropriate." That would have been just as sufficient as the tax extraction statute under review in this cause.

There are many Florida cases holding statutes unconstitutional as an unlawful delegation of legislative power, including several dealing with growth management and environmental protection. For example, in Barg, supra, this Court invalidated an act which utilized the terms "undue or unreasonable" dredging or filling and "unreasonable" destruction of natural vegetation in a manner which would be "harmful or significantly contribute" to air and water pollution, even though these terms did provide at least some guidelines and standards. Once again, this Court held a statute unconstitutional as an



unlawful delegation of legislative power, even though the delegation was more specific and definitive than the "when appropriate" provision of the statute under review here.

In Lewis v. Bank of Pasco County, 346 So.2d 53, 55 (Fla. 1976), this Court reviewed a statute which authorized the release of certain bank records to the public "with the consent of the department." The Department of Banking and Finance was given no limitations or guidelines to regulate these releases. The statute authorizing release was held unconstitutional as an unlawful delegation of legislative power. The Lewis case demonstrates the insufficiency of the phrase "when appropriate." What is "appropriate" is a fundamental legislative policy decision, not an administrative function. The question of fees, including how much, from whom, and when to pay are all policy decisions. How a state agency's operations are to be funded is a decision of the legislature, not the agency itself. It is simply not constitutionally permissible for an executive agency to collect and spend a taxpayer's money with no legislative limitations. In Lewis, supra, at 55-56, this Court summarized the law as follows:

This Court had held in a long and unvaried line of cases that statutes granting power to administrative agencies must clearly announce adequate standards to guide the agencies in the execution of the powers delegated. The statute must so clearly define the power delegated that the