IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

GENE BROWN, d/b/a LEISURE PROPERTIES, LTD., and LEISURE PROPERTIES, LTD., a Florida limited partnership,

Petitioners,

CASE NO. 74,531

VS.

APALACHEE REGIONAL PLANNING COUNCIL,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

On Discretionary Review Pursuant to a Question of Great Public Importance Certified by the First District Court of Appeal

LINDA LOOMIS SHELLEY and TOMMY E. ROBERTS, JR. DIXON, BLANTON & SHELLEY 902 North Gadsden Street P.O. Box 12808 Tallahassee, Florida 32317 (904) 224-1020

Attorneys for Respondent

Florida Bar I.D. No.: 240621

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal found the provisions of Chapters 160 (now codified as Ch. 186, Fla. Stat. (1987)), 163 and 380, Fla. Stat., valid statutory authority for Rule 29L-2.02. Apalachee Regional Planning Council v. Brown, 546 So.2d 451 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). The legislative purpose expressed in the Statutes is a valid exercise of the police power for regulation of development and protection of the environment.

Primary responsibility for review of developments of regional impact falls upon regional planning agencies such as Respondent. The legislature has determined that certain fees are justifiable in this review process, and has authorized Respondent to charge such fees "when appropriate." As the First District Court found, fee making authority is an essential, but technical aspect of the review process. (R. 6) The determination of appropriate fees under Rule 29L-2.02 is based directly upon the cost of the review.

The First District Court correctly perceived that this case falls within the public policy exception to the strict application of the nondelegation rule, and that specific guidelines are therefore not required. (R. 4-5) The Statutory Authorities deal with the exercise of the state's police power for the protection of the health and welfare of the citizenry. Thus, the Statutes will pass constitutional muster because it is possible to glean sufficient guidance in establishing fees based

upon a general reading thereof. Respondent's fee making authority is guided by the legislative purposes stated in the Statutory Authorities, and by the specific regulatory scheme embodied in Ch. 380, Fla. Stat.

The rulemaking process has provided protection against the arbitrary and unreasonable exercise of fee authority.

Rule 29L-2.02 has been reviewed and found acceptable by the Joint Administrative Procedures Committee of the legislature, and operated satisfactorily for a number of years. Judicial review is available to those who feel that the amount of a fee is inappropriate or unreasonable.

Although the Rule at issue in this cause was not directly affected, Respondent's authority to assess and collect fees for review of DRIs was recently confirmed and ratified by the legislature by passage of Chs. 89-375 and 89-536 which amend Section 380.06, Fla. Stat. (1987). By adding subsection 380.06(23)(d), the Legislature has expressly authorized the assessment and collection of fees to recover the costs of development of regional impact review by agencies such as Respondent, and has ratified the current rules of all regional planning agencies on this subject.

Several rules of statutory interpretation are applicable.

Each rule leads to the conclusion that Respondent's exercise of authority in determining and assessing fees is a valid delegation of legislative authority. First, each of the Statutes providing

authority for determination and assessment of fees by Respondent must be considered as a whole; the totality of said Statutes must be read in pari materia. (R. 3 and 7) Second, the Statutes are presumptively valid and any doubt must be resolved in favor of constitutionality. Third, the Court is bound to defer to the legislature's judgment in the matter of environmental regulation. Fourth, the Court should liberally construe the Statutes to accomplish their valid legislative purpose. Fifth, though the Statutes may be subject to different interpretations, the Court must follow that interpretation which provides for constitutionality. Finally, the burden on Petitioners of demonstrating unconstitutionality is onerous: that such result is clear beyond any reasonable doubt.

ARGUMENT

A. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE STATUTORY AUTHORITIES FOR RULE 29L-2.02 EXPRESS A CLEAR AND VALID LEGISLATIVE PURPOSE.

1. RULE 29L-2.02

The Rule at issue in this appeal sets forth the method of calculating fees for Respondent's review of developments of regional impact (herein "DRIs"). The rule provides as follows:

29L-2.02 Fees. Each DRI application, except for applications submitted by a local, state or federal agency shall be accompanied by a fee deposit, as detailed below. When required no application shall be accepted for review unless accompanied by this fee deposit. This fee deposit shall be combined with other funds available to perform the function outlined by § 380.06, Florida Statutes. The amount of the application review fee shall be determined by the following procedures:

- (1) The applicant shall remit a fee deposit of Four Thousand Dollars (\$4,000.00) payable to the Council for review.
- (2) This fee deposit shall set up an account for the applicant with the Council. The Council shall keep accurate records of the actual cost which shall be deducted from the deposit fee, with any amount remaining refunded to the applicant. If the cost of review exceeds the fee deposit, the applicant shall be liable to the Council for 100% of the review cost up to Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00) and 80% of the review cost over Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00).

Petitioners have not questioned the general rulemaking authority of Respondent and the amount of the fee imposed under Rule

29L-2.02, nor did the District Court. Petitioners have challenged only the underlying statutory authority for Rule 29L-2.02, and the District Court ruled on that issue alone.

2. SOURCES OF AUTHORITY

a. Ch. 380, Fla. Stat.

There was no specific fee authority contained in Ch. 380, Fla. Stat., at the time of adoption by Respondent of Rule 29L-2.02. However, since the briefing and argument of this matter before the District Court, the law has been amended to confirm and ratify the authority of regional planning agencies such as Respondent to recover the costs of DRI review through fee assessment by amending Section 380.06, Fla. Stat. (1987). The legislature adopted Chs. 89-375 and 89-536, 8 Fla. Session Law Service 2183 and 2373 (West 1989) (Appendices B and C), which acts provide for the addition of a new Fla. Stat. § 380.06(23)(d). This new provision clarifies and confirms Respondent's already existent fee authority by expressly providing for regional planning agencies to recover the costs, direct and indirect, of conducting DRI reviews. Given this most recent consideration by the legislature of fee authority for agencies such as Respondent, and the legislature's confirmation and clarification of such authority, the Court should infer that such action supports Respondent's contention that the legislature's intent was to provide Respondent with the authority to promulgate and collect fees under Rule 29L-2.02. <u>Dept. of Banking and Finance v. Evans</u>, 540 So.2d 884, 887 n.1 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). If the legislature had intended otherwise, it clearly would have repealed the prior grant of authority to charge fees.

Furthermore, these legislative changes mean that the issue certified by the District Court is no longer one of great public importance. Because the Rule challenged in this cause is not the current fee rule of Respondent, it was not specifically ratified by the recent legislative enactments. However, insofar as DRI review fees assessed prospectively, agencies such as Respondent now have specific fee authority in new Fla. Stat.

§ 380.06(23)(d). The case at bar will thus have an impact only between these litigants and, therefore, it would be appropriate for this Court to discharge its jurisdiction, and reject Respondent's appeal.

The Florida Environmental Land and Water Management Act of 1972, Fla. Stat. §§ 380.012-380.10, has as its stated purpose the protection of Florida's natural resources and environment in order to insure a water management system that will reverse the deterioration of water quality and provide optimum utilization of water resources, facilitate orderly and well-planned development and protect the health, welfare, safety and quality life of the residents of this state. Fla. Stat. § 380.021. The Act includes detailed provisions concerning DRIs and mandates with specificity

substantial undertakings by regional planning councils in conducting DRI reviews. Fla. Stat. § 380.06.

The Act also specifically provides that Respondent "may adopt additional rules, not inconsistent with rules adopted by the state land planning agency, to promote efficient review of developments-of-regional-impact applications." Fla. Stat.

§ 380.06(22)(c). The ability of Respondent to recover reasonable costs of DRI review clearly promotes efficient review, and indeed is necessary to such review.

b. Ch. 163, Fla. Stat., and the Interlocal Agreement

Respondent was created in 1979 pursuant to the Interlocal Agreement. The authority for such agreements is embodied in the Florida Interlocal Cooperation Act of 1969, Ch. 163, Fla. Stat. (herein "ICA"). The stated purpose of the ICA is to permit and facilitate cooperation among local governments on the basis of mutual advantage in order to make best use of their resources to provide services and facilities in, among other things, influencing and regulating development. Fla. Stat. § 163.01(2). The ICA provides that local governments may exercise jointly any power, privilege or authority which they share in common and which each might exercise separately. Fla. Stat. § 163.01(4). A joint exercise of power is accomplished pursuant to contract in the form of an interlocal agreement. The interlocal agreement may provide for, among other things, "the fixing and collecting

of charges, rates, rents or fees, where appropriate, and the making and promulgation of necessary rules and regulations and their enforcement by or with the assistance of the participating parties to the interlocal agreement." Fla. Stat. § 163.01(5)(h) (emphasis added).

The Interlocal Agreement explicitly grants authority to Respondent to, among other things, "determine and collect charges or fees for any lawful purpose, including but not limited to, reviews, referrals, and for providing local assistance for special services." (DCAR. 120) (Appendix D)

c. <u>Ch. 160, Fla. Stat.</u>

Respondent's activities and authority are mandated by the Florida Regional Planning Council Act, Ch. 160, Fla. Stat. (now codified as Ch. 186, Fla. Stat. (1987)) (herein "FRPCA"). The express purposes of the FRPCA are to establish a common system of regional planning councils for coordination of agencies involved in regional planning, and to enhance the opportunity of local governments to resolve issues and problems transcending their individual boundaries. Fla. Stat. § 160.002(2). Although created pursuant to Ch. 163, Fla. Stat., Respondent is a regional planning council for purposes of the FRPCA as well. Fla. Stat. § 160.01(5). Under the FRPCA, Respondent is required to develop a comprehensive regional policy plan concerning long-range physical, economic and social development, and has the power to

adopt rules for the regulation of its affairs and the conduct of its business; to "fix and collect membership dues, rents, or fees when appropriate"; and to enter into contracts to provide, at cost, such services related to its responsibilities as may be requested by local governments within the region. Fla. Stat. § 160.02(1), (12) and (19) (emphasis added).

CLEAR LEGISLATIVE PURPOSE

The specific provisions concerning "appropriate" fee determination and assessment contained in Fla. Stat. §§ 160.02(12) and 163.01(5)(h) are necessary, but minor, aspects of a comprehensive regulatory framework. The Court must consider each statute as a whole. Sanicola v. State, 384 So.2d 152, 153 (Fla. 1980); State v. Hous. and Fin. Auth. of Polk Cty., 376 So.2d 1158, 1160 (Fla. 1979). Furthermore, and as was done by the District Court, the various statutes are to be considered in pari materia, and the Court is obliged to consider the entire scheme of DRI regulation when construing the fee authority provisions. 49 Fla.Jur.2d, Statutes, § 175, and authorities cited therein.

Chapters 160, 163 and 380, Fla. Stat., each include a statement of legislative purpose. The essence of that purpose emanates from the provisions of the Statutes. The District Court found that the Statutory Authorities were clear in their purpose, and that their purpose was valid. Indeed, this Court has

previously concluded that the regulation of development by the legislature protects the health and welfare of the citizenry, and is a valid exercise of the police power. Graham v. Estuary Properties, Inc., 399 So.2d 1374, 1381 (Fla. 1981) ("Protection of environmentally sensitive areas and pollution prevention are legitimate concerns within the police power"). The District Court correctly acknowledged the statutory scheme in which the question of fee determination is decided and concluded that such scheme evidenced a clear legislative purpose.

B. THE EXERCISE OF AUTHORITY TO DETERMINE WHEN FEES ARE "APPROPRIATE" IS GUIDED AND CONSTRAINED BY A CLEAR LEGISLATIVE PURPOSE. THEREFORE, IMPLEMENTATION OF SUCH AUTHORITY BY ADOPTING RULE 29L-2.02 IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

As noted by the District Court, the statutory scheme for DRI regulation is a complex one. (R. 6-7) However, the legislative purpose underlying it is clear, and the purpose is a legitimate one. In this context the District Court found that the legislature's delegation of the authority to determine an "appropriate" fee passes constitutional muster.

1. RULE OF NONDELEGATION

The rule of nondelegation springs directly from the Florida Constitution:

The powers of the state government shall be divided into legislative, executive and judicial branches. No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the other branches unless expressly provided herein.

Art. II, § 3, Fla. Const. In addition, the constitution vests the legislative powers solely in the legislature, and contemplates their exercise by that body alone. Art. III, § 1, Fla. Const.

THE DRI FEE IS NOT A TAX

Petitioners have characterized the fees charged by
Respondent as a tax. The logic of Petitioners' contention is

unclear, and Petitioners have cited no authority for this proposition. Respondent assumes that by characterizing Respondent's fee as a tax it follows that the Respondent shoulders a heavier burden in demonstrating its authority to make the assessment. While the District Court did not so state, implicit in its decision is a rejection of the Petitioners' contention. The District Court throughout its decision consistently refers to the assessment made by Respondent as a fee. Furthermore, it is clear under the law of this state that there is a legal distinction between a fee and a tax, and that the assessment made by Respondent against Petitioners was in the nature of a fee. Bateman v. City of Winter Park, 37 So. 2d 362, 363 (Fla. 1948); Contractors and Builders Ass'n v. City of Dunedin, 329 So. 2d 314, 318 (Fla. 1976); Home Bldrs. v. Bd. of Palm Beach Cty. Comm'rs, 446 So. 2d 140, 144 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983); Hollywood, Inc. v. Broward County, 431 So. 2d 606, 611 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983); 50 Fla.Jur.2d, Taxation, §§ 1:2-1:15, and authorities cited therein. The use of the word "fee" in the Statutory Authorities is, in itself, a limitation on Respondent to charge only that sum which will offset the cost of conducting Petitioners' DRI review.

The fee assessed against Petitioners by Respondent was pursuant to express statutory authority. The authority was part and parcel of a complex and detailed regulatory scheme. The fee assessed Petitioners was directly related to Respondent's

regulatory duties described in detail in Ch. 380, Fla. Stat., which responsibilities are clearly a valid exercise of the state's police power. The amount of the fee assessed against Petitioners was based directly upon the cost of the DRI review performed by Respondent for Petitioners. As such, the charge made by Respondent against Petitioners is clearly within the legal standards set forth by this Court in determining that Respondent's assessment is a fee, and the validity of such an assessment.

3. FEE DETERMINATION IS NOT LEGISLATIVE BUT ADMINISTRATIVE

The rule of nondelegation is steadfast in Florida law.

Nonetheless, the courts recognize that there are limitations to this rule because not every power is a "legislative" power.

E.g., Friends of the Everglades, Inc. v. Zoning Board, 478 \$0.2d 1126, 1128 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (decision to pursue appeal is executive not legislative). It is the power to say what the law is that may not be legislatively delegated. The relevant inquiry has been stated thus, by this Court:

[T]he crucial test in determining whether a statute amounts to an unlawful delegation of legislative power is whether the statute contains sufficient standards or guidelines to enable the agency and the courts to determine whether the agency is carrying out the Legislature's intent.

Dept. of Insurance v. Southeast Volusia Hosp. Dist., 438 So.2d 815, 819 (Fla. 1983).

The District Court did not find that Rule 29L-2.02 fee assessment is a fundamental and primary policy decision, which this Court has found to be solely within the province of the legislature. Askew v. Cross Key Waterways, 372 So.2d 913 (Fla. 1978). The District Court characterized fee determination and assessment as "a technical issue of implementation . . . , " citing, Southeast Volusia Hosp. Dist., 438 So.2d at 820. (R. 6)

The legislature has determined, as a matter of policy, which development projects must be reviewed, when review occurs, who is to conduct the review and how review is performed. The legislature has determined, in considerable detail, specific review criteria and processes to be used by Respondent in conducting DRI review. Fla. Stat. §§ 380.06 and 380.0651. This legislative framework provides an adequate basis for determining whether, in promulgating Rule 29L-2.02 requiring partial reimbursement for costs incurred in conducting a DRI review, the Respondent is carrying out the intent of the legislature.

4. SPECIFIC GUIDELINES NOT REQUIRED

a. Guidance from Clear Intent of Statute

In order to avoid delegation of authority to say what the law is, the legislature must provide adequate standards to guide the administrative agency or allow the courts to ascertain whether the agency is properly executing the powers delegated. However, it is clear that the legislature need not set out

specific guidelines in order to delegate fee determination authority to Respondent. It is sufficient if the Statutory Authorities define "a pattern by which the rule or regulation must be made to conform," Florida Canners Ass'n v. State Dept. of Citrus, 371 So.2d 503, 513 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979), quoted in, Cornwell v. Univ. of Florida, 307 So.2d 203, 212 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975), and that such standards be reasonable. (R. 5) Chapters 160, 163 and 380, Fla. Stat., establish such a pattern.

For many years this Court has recognized the authority of the legislature to enact laws establishing a general policy which leaves the detail of the policy to the discretion of administrative or executive officials. As noted by the Court in State v. Atlantic Coastline R. Co.:

A direct exercise by the legislature of the police power is in accordance with immemorial governmental usage. But the subject matter may be such that only a general scheme or policy can with advantage be laid down by the Legislature, and the working out in detail of the policy indicated may be left to the discretion of administrative or executive officials. [Citation omitted.1

The constitutionality of statutory provisions authorizing executive or administrative officers of boards to formulate rules and regulations to make the statute effective for the public purpose designed has generally been assumed or conceded without question. But in a number of well-considered cases it has been distinctly held that, where a valid statute complete in itself enacts the general outlines of a governmental scheme, or policy, or purpose, and confers upon officials charged with the duty of assisting and administering the law authority to make, within designated limitations and subject to judicial review, rules and regulations, or to ascertain facts, upon which the statute by its own terms operates in carrying

out the legislative purpose, such authority is not an unconstitutional delegation of legislative power. [Citations omitted.]

47 So. 969, 971 (Fla. 1908).

The principle set forth in <u>Atlantic Coastline</u> has been consistently confirmed by this Court. In Dept. of Insurance v. Southeast Volusia Hosp. Dist., supra, the Court reviewed the constitutionality of Fla. Stat. § 768.54, concerning the Florida Patients' Compensations Fund (herein the "Fund"). The statute was challenged based upon the contention that it was an unlawful delegation of legislative power. The Court upheld the constitutionality of the statute in the following particular respects: that "actuarial soundness" is a meaningful legal standard, 438 So. 2d at 819; that base fees may be "adjusted downward" for any fiscal year in which a "lesser amount would be adequate'' was sufficient without the statute clearly defining the administrative agency's options, 438 So.2d at 820; that the statute need not set forth specific criteria for how or when additional fees are to be collected, id.; that the statute need not specify when a deficit exists, id.; and that unconstitutionality did not follow simply because the statute was subject to differing interpretations, id.

One of the important issues raised in <u>Southeast Volusia</u>
Hosp. Dist. concerned the lack of statutory standards and guidelines for assessments by the Fund under Fla. Stat.

§ 768.54(3)(c), a problem analogous to the one <u>sub judice</u>.

Therein, the District Court determined that the lack of guidelines gave "total discretion" to the Fund to determine whether assessments were excessive, sufficient or insufficient to satisfy claims. However, this Court expressly disagreed, stating:

[W]e find no merit in the proposition that this constitutes the sort of delegation which is a nondelegable legislative function. The question of determining when a deficit exists or not is a technical issue of implementation and not a fundamental policy decision. To require constant legislative supervision of the question of when a deficit exists or the selection from the numerous available tests that might be used for that purpose is neither practical nor required by the Constitution. [Citation omitted.]

This is precisely the issue in this case, and this Court has previously decided it in Respondent's favor. Just as the Fund in Southeast Volusia Hosp. Dist., the Respondent determines and assesses fees in accordance with a complex and detailed statutory scheme which provides all the guidance needed in doing so.

See also, In Re Advisory Opinion to the Governor, 509 So.2d 292 (Fla. 1987) (upholding the constitutionality of Ch. 87-6, Laws of Florida, notwithstanding that numerous operative terms in the statute were not defined by the legislature); Microtel, Inc. v. Fla. Public Service Comm., 464 So.2d 1189, 1191 (Fla. 1985) (clear legislative intent illuminates general statutory standard); Sanicola v. State, supra (upholding the constitutionality of Fla. Stat. § 409.185, even though the statute did not specifically define a "change in circumstances");

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